## THE PRODUCTIVITY GAP BETWEEN CANADIAN AND U.S. FIRMS

Working Paper Number 29 April 1999

# Industry Canada Research Publications Program The Industry Canada Research Publications Program provides a forum for the analysis of key micro-economic challenges in the Canadian economy and contributes to an informed public debate on these issues. Under the direction of the Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Branch, the Program's research paper series features peer-reviewed analytical working papers or policy-related discussion papers written by specialists on micro-economic issues of broad importance. The views expressed in these papers do not necessarily reflect the views of Industry Canada or of the federal government.

## THE PRODUCTIVITY GAP BETWEEN CANADIAN AND U.S. FIRMS

By Frank Chung Lee and Jianmin Tang, Industry Canada

Working Paper Number 29 April 1999

Aussi disponible en français

#### Canadian Cataloguing in Publication Data

Lee, Frank C. (Frank Chung).

The Productivity Gap Between Canadian and U.S. Firms.

(Working Paper)

Text in English and French on inverted pages.

Title on added t.p.: L'écart de productivité entre les entreprises canadiennes et américaines.

Includes bibliographical references.

ISBN 0-662-63901-4

Cat. No. C21-24/30-1999

- 1. Industrial productivity Canada.
- 2. Labor productivity Canada.
- 3. Industrial productivity United States.
- 4. Labor productivity Canada.
- I. Tang, Jianmin, 1962-.
- II Canada. Industry Canada.
- III. Title.
- IV. Series: Working paper (Canada. Industry Canada)

HC79.152L43 1999

338'06'0971

C98-980359-7E

The list of titles available in the Research Publications Program and details on how to obtain copies can be found at the end of this document. Abstracts of research volumes and papers published in Industry Canada's various series, and the full text of our quarterly newsletter, *MICRO*, are available on *STRATEGIS*, the Department's online business information site, at http://strategis.ic.gc.ca.

Comments should be addressed to:

Someshwar Rao Director Strategic Investment Analysis Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Industry Canada 5th Floor, West Tower 235 Queen Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0H5

Tel.: (613) 941-8187 Fax: (613) 991-1261

E-mail: rao.someshwar@ic.gc.ca

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Donald Daly, Michael Denny, Wulong Gu, Alan Gunderson, Pierre Mohnen, Mohammed Rafiquzzaman and Someshwar Rao for very helpful discussions and comments, and two external reviewers for insightful comments and suggestions. All opinions expressed in this paper are entirely our own and should in no way be attributed to Industry Canada.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	i
INTRODUCTION	1
LITERATURE REVIEW	3
EMPIRICAL FRAMEWORK	7
EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS	9
Data	9
Productivity Determinants	12
Estimation of the Productivity Gap	
Explanation of the TFP Gap	16
The Effect of Industrial Structure	
The Effects of Labour Quality, R&D, Firm Size,	
Capacity Utilization and Returns to Scale	20
CONCLUSIONS AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS	23
APPENDIX A: THE OBSERVATION-OVERWHELMING EFFECT	25
APPENDIX B: DATA DESCRIPTION	27
APPENDIX C: THE ESTIMATION BASED ON A LONGITUDINAL SAMPLE	29
NOTES	31
BIBLIOGRAPHY	35
INDUSTRY CANADA RESEARCH PUBLICATIONS	39

#### **ABSTRACT**

Canada's productivity performance in the manufacturing sector has deteriorated compared to that of the United States since 1985 on the basis of both aggregate and industry analyses. The purpose of this paper is to investigate the productivity gap between Canadian and U.S. firms and its underlying factors since 1985. The firm-level data are constructed from the Compustat and Compact Disclosure data bases, supplemented by industry data from Statistics Canada, the U.S. Department of Commerce, and Jorgenson's capital, labour, energy and material (KLEM) data base. We employ a Cobb-Douglas production function to analyse both labour and total factor productivity (TFP) gaps in manufacturing; mining; transportation, communications and utilities (TCU); trade; and services. Our findings indicate that the TFP performance of Canadian firms relative to that of U.S. firms deteriorated from the 1985–88 period to the 1989-92 period in all five broad sectors and that only the mining sector fully recovered in the 1993-95 period. Over the 1993-95 period, Canada lagged behind the United States in TFP in all five sectors, with the gap ranging from 4 per cent in mining to 30 per cent in manufacturing. To explain the TFP gap and its widening over the sample period, we consider differences in labour quality, R&D, firm size, capacity utilization, returns to scale and industrial structure. As important factors contributing to the gap in manufacturing, our results identify labour quality, R&D and capacity utilization, together with an unfavourable industrial structure; in mining the results identify labour quality, R&D and returns to scale; and in TCU they identify labour quality. These factors were also responsible for the widening TFP gap in all sectors except mining.

#### INTRODUCTION

Productivity performance is a main focus of virtually every country's policy agenda because it reflects the overall efficiency of the economy and directly affects a country's living standards. Given its importance, there is genuine concern among policy makers and researchers about Canada's poor productivity performance. A study by Statistics Canada (1996) reveals that the total factor productivity (TFP) level declined by 0.6 per cent per year in the Canadian manufacturing sector over the 1985–92 period, while in the same period its average annual growth rate was 1.0 per cent in the U.S. manufacturing sector. In fact, for each of the 15 manufacturing industries examined in this study, the Canadian industry's TFP growth lagged behind that of its U.S. counterpart over this period.

The goal of this paper is to measure the productivity gap between Canadian and U.S. firms, and to investigate why Canada's productivity performance has deteriorated compared to that of the United States since 1985. The paper compares productivity levels between firms in five broad sectors in the two countries since that date. To do this it uses firm-level data from the Compustat and Compact Disclosure data bases, supplemented by industry data from Statistics Canada, the U.S. Department of Commerce, and Jorgenson's capital, labour, energy and material (KLEM) data base. The five broad sectors examined are manufacturing; mining; transportation, communications and utilities (TCU); retail and wholesale (trade); and services. We then consider differences in labour quality, research and development (R&D), capacity utilization, firm size and returns to scale as possible explanations for the gap and the deterioration in each sector. In addition, we explore the difference in industrial structure for manufacturing.

This paper is unique in four respects. First, it uses firm-level data instead of the more commonly used aggregate and industry data. Ultimately, firms produce goods and services and compete against one another. They therefore constitute the appropriate unit of analysis. Second, our study compares the productivity performance of Canadian and U.S. firms in the post-1985 period, whereas most earlier empirical studies focussed on productivity performance in the 1970s and 1980s. Third, instead of focussing on growth rates (as do most other empirical studies), we compare both labour and total factor productivity levels between Canadian and U.S. firms. Finally, we investigate the underlying causes of the productivity gap and why it has widened over time.

The main conclusions drawn from this study are the following:

- All five broad Canadian sectors were more intermediate goods-intensive than their U.S. counterparts in the 1993–95 period. Canada's higher intermediate goods intensity was responsible for its relatively higher gross output-based labour productivity (LP) levels. After accounting for the intermediate input-labour ratio, Canadian firms' value added-based labour productivity levels were comparable to or lower than their U.S. counterparts, except in mining, in the 1985–88 period.
- Relatively lower value added-based labour productivity levels among Canadian firms were
  attributed to their relatively lower TFP levels and not to their capital-labour ratios. In fact, their
  capital-labour ratios were higher than those of U.S. firms, except in TCU, in the 1985–92 period.

- The TFP performance of Canadian firms relative to that of U.S. firms deteriorated from the 1985–88 period to the 1989–92 period in all five broad sectors, with some recovery in the 1993–95 period in all sectors except TCU. Over the 1993–95 period, Canada's TFP level was lower than that of the United States in all five sectors, with the gap ranging from 4 per cent in mining to 30 per cent in manufacturing.
- Canada's manufacturing sector was more concentrated in less productive industries than was the U.S. manufacturing sector. Differences in the composition of manufacturing industries accounted for more than 25 per cent of the TFP gap in manufacturing between the two countries.
- Labour quality, R&D and capacity utilization were responsible for Canada's productivity gaps in manufacturing, accounting for more than 69 per cent of the structure-adjusted TFP gap (based on the U.S. industrial structure). Labour quality, R&D and returns to scale were responsible for the gap in mining in the 1989–95 period, fully accounting for the TFP gap in this period. Labour quality was responsible for the TFP gap in TCU, accounting for more than 30 per cent of the TFP gap in this sector. However, these factors were not responsible for the productivity gaps in trade and services. Difference in firm size accounted for only a small portion of the TFP gap; this result suggests that the factor was not important for the TFP gaps.
- Labour quality, R&D, capacity utilization, firm size and returns to scale together were responsible for the widening TFP gap between 1985–88 and 1993–95 in all sectors except mining; they explained from 6 per cent of the widened gap in manufacturing to 95 per cent in trade.

In the next section of this paper, we briefly review the empirical literature on productivity. In the section entitled "Empirical Framework," we introduce the model for productivity comparisons. In "Empirical Analysis," we describe the data used and present the estimated results. On the basis of the estimated results, we calculate both labour and total factor productivity gaps between Canadian and U.S. firms. After showing that there was a productivity gap between Canadian and U.S. firms and that productivity performance in Canada deteriorated compared to that in the United States from 1985 to 1995, we discuss the underlying factors behind the gap and the deterioration. The last section concludes the paper.

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

Productivity is analysed perhaps more than any other subject in economics because of its importance to our standard of living and the complexity of the issues involved. Given the vast literature on the subject, it is beyond the scope of this paper to review all of it. We therefore restrict ourselves to reviewing only relevant empirical papers dealing with productivity. There are three broad classes of empirical studies on productivity. The first class analyses cross-country productivity differences on the basis of aggregate data at the country level. The second class relies on industry data to compare industry productivity levels and growth rates. The last class relies on firm-level data to understand productivity performance.

Country-level data provide evidence that productivity in the industrialized countries has tended to converge since the Second World War; see, e.g., Baumol (1986) and Dowrick and Nguyen (1989). Nevertheless, evidence of productivity convergence based on industry data is not very strong. For instance, Costello (1993) finds that there is a stronger correlation in productivity growth across industries within one country than across countries within one industry. Bernard and Jones (1996a, b) reinforce this finding as their analyses suggest an absence of productivity convergence in manufacturing for 14 countries of the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) during the 1970–86 period. They find, however, productivity convergence in other sectors, such as services. Their findings suggest that each country may be facing a unique technology shock. Thus, technology transfer or productivity spillover from one country to another is not automatic. It is not surprising, then, that Canada has lagged behind the United States in productivity performance and that the gap has been increasing since the 1980s, as mentioned in the introduction. Most empirical studies show that Canada's productivity performance was relatively poor compared to that of other developed countries. For instance, Englander and Gurney (1994b) show that Canada's TFP growth lagged behind that of all other OECD countries, except Greece, in the 1980–90 period on the basis of aggregate data.

Many industry analyses reach similar conclusions. Denny et al. (1992) investigate relative TFP growth and levels in major manufacturing industries of Canada, Japan and the United States. They find that only three Canadian industries (lumber, paper and fabricated metals) were more efficient than their U.S. counterparts in the 1983-85 period, although 7 of the 12 Canadian industries showed an improvement in their TFP levels relative to those of their U.S. counterparts from the 1974–76 period to the 1983-85 period. Rao and Lemprière (1992a) show that many U.S. manufacturing industries' TFP growth rebounded in the 1980-88 period after the 1974-79 slowdown, while Canadian industries faced greater difficulty. They then compare labour productivity growth between Canada and the United States for non-manufacturing industries.<sup>2</sup> During the 1961–86 period, Canada's labour productivity growth was significantly higher than that of the United States in transportation, storage and communications; construction; mining; and utilities. In a similar vein, De Jong (1996) compares labour productivity levels in Canada and the United States using unit value ratios. In 1990, Canada's labour productivity levels were lower than those of the United States in all 20 manufacturing industries except tobacco. Furthermore, over the 1979–90 period, the U.S.-Canada labour productivity gap widened in all manufacturing industries except tobacco, wood products, furniture and fixtures, basic and fabricated metals, and electrical machinery and equipment. Similarly, Pilat (1996a, b) compares industry labour productivity at the sectoral level on the basis of industry-specific purchasing power parities (PPPs). In 1993, all major Canadian manufacturing industries had lower labour productivity levels than their U.S. counterparts, with the exception of base metal products.

4 Literature Review

All the studies mentioned here relied on aggregate data to measure productivity growth and levels. One exception is that of Keay (1997). He uses 39 Canadian and U.S. firms to assess TFP growth rates and levels in nine industries since the early 1900s. He finds that Canadian firms were more productive than their U.S. counterparts in paper mills, sugar refineries and wineries, and less productive in cotton textile. The study, however, suffers from two weaknesses. First, the number of firms may be too small to accurately reflect industry productivity performance. Second, Keay uses industry wages and material costs in calculating firms' productivity performance. Therefore, his estimates may simply reflect differences in Canada–U.S. industry data but not the productivity gap between Canadian and U.S. firms.

The studies we have mentioned focussed on measuring productivity, but there are many empirical studies that also focussed on finding the determinants of productivity growth. Rao and Lemprière (1992b) find that energy price shocks, the exchange rate, R&D effort and industrial structure contributed to the widening of the manufacturing labour productivity gap between Canada and the United States in the post-1973 period. Englander and Gurney (1994a) use aggregate cross-country data to investigate the determinants of productivity growth. They find that education and R&D improve productivity performance; however, they do not find large positive externalities associated with physical investment or large returns from infrastructure. Van Ark and Pilat (1993) consider differences in capital intensity, labour force qualifications and industrial structure in explaining differences in the labour productivity levels of manufacturing industries in Germany, Japan and the United States on the basis of unit value ratios. They find that these factors were not very important in explaining the labour productivity gap in 1987.

Pilat (1996a) argues that the degree of competition and the growth of R&D stocks appear to be positively related to productivity growth. In recent studies, Gera, Gu and Lee (1998a, b, c) investigate the underlying factors behind productivity growth in Canada. They conclude that information technology (IT) investments, international R&D spillovers embodied in IT imports, and foreign direct investment (FDI) were positively related to productivity growth. In addition, they also find that technical progress in Canada was embodied in capital stock, primarily in machinery and equipment.

There are now several firm-based studies that shed further light on the determinants of productivity growth. Li (1997) assesses the effects of China's economic reform on the performance of the country's 272 state enterprises. He finds that the allocation of property rights and incentives has yielded marked improvements in TFP growth. Indeed, on the basis of a sample of 23 international airlines over the 1973–83 period, Ehrlich et al. (1996) find that state ownership lowered productivity growth in the long run. Nickell (1996) reaches the same conclusion as Pilat (1996a) on the basis of his analysis of 640 U.K. firms. He shows that competition contributed positively to TFP growth. Baily and Gersbach (1995) show more clearly the importance of competition on productivity; they state, "The greater the exposure of an industry to best-practice methods, the closer it is to best-practice productivity." Griliches and Mairesse (1991), Hall and Mairesse (1995) and Mairesse and Hall (1996) all stress the importance of the contribution of R&D to productivity growth on the basis of their analyses of U.S. and French firms.

In addition, on the basis of firm-level analyses, information technology and effective management of human resources appear to be important for productivity growth. Brynjolfsson and Hitt (1994) and Lehr and Lichtenberg (1997) find that U.S. firms that invested more in computers and information technology tended to have faster productivity growth. Ichniowski and Shaw (1995) study the behaviour of 35 U.S. steel firms during the 1991–93 period to determine the implications of human resource management practices for productivity performance. They show that innovative work practices

Literature Review

5

that emphasize teamwork, flexibility, incentive pay and training result in higher productivity performance.

In summary, both economy-wide and industry analyses appear to show a widening Canada–U.S. productivity gap. Past empirical studies suggest that differences in R&D, IT investments, labour quality, degree of competition and the effectiveness of human resource management practices may have played an important role in productivity growth. We also consider some of these variables to explain the widening productivity gap between Canadian and U.S. firms.

#### EMPIRICAL FRAMEWORK

We assume that each firm's production activity is characterized by the following Cobb-Douglas production function<sup>3</sup>:

$$(1) Y = AK^{\alpha_K}L^{\alpha_L}M^{\alpha_M},$$

where Y is gross output, A is the efficiency coefficient,  $^4$  K is capital input, L is labour input and M is intermediate input.  $\alpha_K$ ,  $\alpha_L$  and  $\alpha_M$  are the elasticities of output with respect to K, L and M.

In our empirical analysis, we extend the basic model to explore some factors that may affect productivity. On the basis of data available, in this paper we consider four factors: labour quality, R&D, firm size and capacity utilization. These factors will be discussed in detail in the section on "Productivity Determinants." We use Z to denote these factors and specify the efficiency coefficient, A, as a function of Z— that is, A(Z). We also use industry and period (1985–88, 1989–92 and 1993–95) dummies to capture productivity performance differences across industries and over time. After incorporating these considerations, we derive from equation (1) the firm gross-output labour productivity function for each broad sector. Taking manufacturing, for example, the gross-output labour productivity function is:

$$\ln(Y/L) = \sum_{j=1}^{19} \left[ \left( \alpha_{1j} P_1 + \alpha_{2j} P_2 + \alpha_{3j} P_3 \right) I_j \right]$$

$$+ \alpha_K \ln(K/L) + \alpha_M \ln(M/L) + (\alpha_K + \alpha_L + \alpha_M - 1) \ln L$$

$$+ \alpha_Q \ln Q + \alpha_R \ln R + \alpha_U \ln U + \alpha_{S_2} S_2 + \alpha_{S_3} S_3,$$

where  $P_i$  is a period dummy for period i;  $I_j$  is an industry dummy for industry j; Q denotes labour quality; R denotes the R&D factor; U denotes capacity utilization; and  $S_2$  and  $S_3$  are firm-size dummies for medium and large firms.

Gross-output labour productivity is determined by capital intensity (K/L), intermediate goods intensity (M/L), returns to scale, and the exogenous variables affecting production efficiency. The unexplained portion or the residual is given by the constant, which is different for each industry and period.

In order to compare TFP between Canada and the United States, we assume that the elasticities (the slope coefficients) between the two countries are the same as in the index number approach.<sup>6</sup> However, our data show that this assumption does not hold, at least for our sample period. To overcome this problem, we assume that each elasticity takes the average value of the two countries (Denny et al.,1992; Jorgenson and Nishimizu, 1978).<sup>7</sup> Under this assumption, comparisons can be made between the countries.<sup>8</sup> We therefore estimate the firm labour productivity function separately for each country and then take the average value of each estimated parameter:

(3) 
$$\overline{\hat{\alpha}}_j = 1/2(\hat{\alpha}_j^{CAN} + \hat{\alpha}_j^{US}), j = K, L, M, Z_i$$

Note, however, that there is no need to estimate the production function separately if the number of observations from each country is about the same. In this paper, the number of observations is much larger for the United States, resulting in a biased estimated coefficient if the production function is not estimated separately. In Appendix A, we discuss this matter in greater detail.

On the basis of production function (2) with the estimated parameters from equation (3), we are able to compare firm average productivity differences between the two countries for each sector. To reflect differences in firm size, we calculate the weighted firm average productivity for each sector of each country by assigning each firm a weight that equals its gross output share of the sector. For instance, we calculate the weighted average of the TFP levels of the manufacturing sector for both Canada and the United States, and the difference between the weighted TFP averages is the TFP gap in manufacturing between Canada and the United States. To quantify each factor's effect on the productivity gap, we use the following expression for the logarithmic gross output—based labour productivity gap between the two countries in the first sub-period:

(4) 
$$GLPG = \Delta \overline{\ln(Y/L)}$$

$$= \hat{\alpha}_{D} + \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_{K} \Delta \overline{\ln(K/L)} + \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_{M} \Delta \overline{\ln(M/L)}$$

$$+ (\overline{\hat{\alpha}}_{K} + \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_{L} + \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_{M} - 1) \Delta \overline{\ln L} + \sum_{i} \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_{Z_{i}} \Delta \overline{\ln Z_{i}},$$

where 
$$\hat{\alpha}_D = \Delta \overline{\ln(Y/L)} - \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_K \Delta \overline{\ln(K/L)} - \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_M \Delta \overline{\ln(M/L)} - (\overline{\hat{\alpha}}_K + \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_L + \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_M - 1) \Delta \overline{\ln L} - \sum \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_{Z_i} \Delta \overline{\ln Z_i}$$
;

 $\Delta \overline{\ln X} = \overline{\ln X}^{CAN} - \overline{\ln X}^{US}$ ; and  $X = K/L, M/L, L, Z_t$ .  $\overline{\ln X}^{CAN}$  and  $\overline{\ln X}^{US}$  denote the weighted firm average logarithmic value of X in Canada and the United States in the first period.

After removing the effects of intermediate goods, the logarithmic value-added labour productivity gap between the two countries in the first sub-period is:

$$(5) \qquad VLPG = \hat{\alpha}_D + \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_K \Delta \overline{\ln(K/L)} + (\overline{\hat{\alpha}}_K + \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_L + \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_M - 1) \Delta \overline{\ln L} + \sum \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_{Z_i} \Delta \overline{\ln Z_i}.$$

Finally, we remove the effects of the capital-labour ratio to obtain the logarithmic TFP gap between the two countries in the first sub-period:

(6) 
$$TFPG = \hat{\alpha}_D + (\overline{\hat{\alpha}}_K + \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_L + \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_M - 1)\Delta \overline{\ln L} + \sum \overline{\hat{\alpha}}_{Z_i} \Delta \overline{\ln Z_i}.$$

The logarithmic TFP gap is decomposed into three terms. The first term is the unexplained or residual component that cannot be explained by the exogenous variables, Z. The second component is the returns to scale component, <sup>9</sup> and the last component is the component explained by those factors (Z) considered in our regression analysis. If there were no TFP gap between the two countries, the sum of all these terms would be zero.

The equations used to estimate the gaps in the second and third sub-periods are the same as in the first sub-period except that the first sub-period value of each variable is replaced by its corresponding value in the period of interest.

#### **EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS**

In this section, we present empirical results comparing both TFP and labour productivity levels between Canadian and U.S. firms. We first briefly describe the data set used for the empirical analysis.

#### Data

Both U.S. and Canadian firm data are extracted from the Compustat data base. This is supplemented with Canadian firm data from the Compact Disclosure/Canada data base since the Compustat data base contains only a small number of Canadian firms. Firms that have data on sales, assets, property, plant and equipment (PPE), and number of employees are selected. A firm is defined as Canadian if it is incorporated in Canada, and as a U.S. company if it is incorporated in the United States. Thus, we group firms according to their location instead of ownership. A detailed description of data construction is presented in Appendix B.

Our sample contains 5 829 observations for Canada and 38 878 observations for the United States over the 1985–95 period, based on 2 364 Canadian firms and 5 647 U.S. firms as shown in Table 1. Because of firm turnover and missing information, only 105 Canadian firms and 1 873 U.S. firms have complete data for the entire period. All other firms lack data for at least one year; some of these are new companies.

All U.S. and most Canadian firms are publicly traded companies listed on the New York Stock Exchange, the American Stock Exchange, NASDAQ or the Toronto Stock Exchange. Other Canadian firms are either public utilities or private companies which are not publicly traded. Table 2 shows that both Canadian and U.S. firms cover more than 60 per cent of the gross output for manufacturing and TCU, 31 per cent for trade and 17 per cent for mining. The coverage ratios are smallest for services. Both Canadian and U.S. firms cover less than 18 per cent of the gross output in their respective countries' services sector. Accordingly, the results for the services sector should be interpreted with caution.

These firms are initially classified into 26 industries on the basis of the industry code given in the data bases for each firm (Standard Industrial Classification, or SIC). These firms are then re-allocated into five broad categories of sectors since the number of firms in each of the 26 industries is too small for empirical analysis. The five broad sectors are manufacturing, mining, TCU, trade and services. Table 1 lists the number of observations and firms by sector. The manufacturing sector has the most observations and the largest number of firms for both countries.

The firm-level data are then deflated by corresponding 26-industry deflators from Statistics Canada, the U.S. Department of Commerce and Jorgenson's KLEM data set to construct real output and input data. Canada's real output and input variables are converted into U.S. currency using Pilat's (1996b) industry purchasing power parities for manufacturing industries or the OECD's (1993) aggregate expenditure—based PPPs for the other sectors.

Table 1
Number of Observations and Firms by Industry

.S.         Canada         U.S.         Canada         U.S.         Canada         U.S.         Canada           86         53         348         30         308         21         273         289           90         60         373         36         352         25         348         333           96         57         393         42         396         31         392         346           101         46         395         53         416         31         402         346           115         53         407         55         432         32         427         388           115         67         411         68         448         41         467         466           138         67         439         105         494         39         531         529           143         125         464         287         556         123         608         1256           161         93         507         108         636         66         790         618           177         4848         945         5497         539         580         5850         5859		Manuf	Manufacturing	Mini	ning	TCUa	Ua	Trade	ıde	Services	ices	Total	tal
133         1308         52         86         53         348         30         308         21         273         289           160         1428         52         90         60         373         36         352         25         348         333           165         1583         51         96         57         393         42         396         31         392         346         333           170         1668         55         101         46         395         53         416         31         402         346         355         346         355         346         355         346         355         346         355         346         355         346         355         347         466         348         41         467         466         348         41         467         466         348         448         41         467         466         348         448         41         467         466         348         448         41         467         466         448         41         467         466         448         41         467         468         488         488         41         467		Canada	U.S.	t t	U.S.	Canada	U.S.	Canada	U.S.	Canada	U.S.	Canada	U.S.
160         1428         52         90         60         373         36         352         25         348         333           165         1583         51         96         57         393         42         396         31         392         346           170         1668         55         101         46         395         53         416         31         402         355           170         168         54         115         53         407         55         432         32         427         388           219         1805         71         135         67         411         68         448         41         467         466           241         1929         77         138         67         464         287         556         123         608         1256           260         2367         122         161         93         507         108         636         61         696         644           251         2553         123         186         77         4848         945         5497         539         580         589         618           2603         <	1985	133	1 308	52	98	53	348	30	308	21	273	289	2 323
165         1583         51         96         57         393         42         396         31         392         346           170         1668         55         101         46         395         53         416         31         402         355           194         1732         54         115         53         407         55         432         32         427         388           219         1805         71         138         67         411         68         448         41         467         466           241         1929         77         138         67         439         105         494         39         531         529           242         2100         179         143         125         464         287         556         123         608         1256         644           260         2367         122         161         93         507         108         636         66         790         605         618           268         2772         123         186         77         4848         945         5497         539         5860         589         618	1986	160	1 428	52	06	09	373	36	352	25	348	333	2 591
170         1668         55         101         46         395         53         416         31         402         355           194         1732         54         115         53         407         55         432         32         427         388           219         1805         71         135         67         411         68         448         41         467         466           241         1929         77         138         67         439         105         494         39         531         529           241         1929         77         138         67         464         287         556         123         608         1256           250         2367         122         161         93         507         108         636         66         790         605         644           260         2772         123         186         79         576         760         69         926         618           2603         21245         965         1428         777         4848         945         5497         539         5860         5829         584           1019 <td>1987</td> <td>165</td> <td>1 583</td> <td>51</td> <td>96</td> <td>57</td> <td>393</td> <td>42</td> <td>396</td> <td>31</td> <td>392</td> <td>346</td> <td>2 860</td>	1987	165	1 583	51	96	57	393	42	396	31	392	346	2 860
194         1732         54         115         53         407         55         432         32         427         388           219         1805         71         135         67         411         68         448         41         467         466           241         1805         77         138         67         439         105         494         39         531         529           542         2 100         179         143         125         464         287         556         123         608         1256           260         2 367         122         161         93         507         108         636         61         696         644           268         2 772         123         186         79         576         79         69         926         618           2603         2 1245         965         1428         777         4 848         945         5 497         539         5 860         5 829           261         1019         2 915         337         2 36         2 27         620         60         67         70         67         67         86         96	1988	170	1 668	55	101	46	395	53	416	31	402	355	2 982
219         1805         71         135         67         411         68         448         41         467         466           241         1929         77         138         67         439         105         494         39         531         529           242         2 100         179         143         125         464         287         556         123         608         1256           260         2 367         122         161         93         507         108         636         644         644           251         2 553         129         177         77         535         82         699         66         790         605           268         2 772         123         186         77         4 848         945         5 497         539         5 860         5 829         3           Acros         2 603         2 1245         965         1428         777         4 848         945         5 497         5 860         5 829         3           Acros         3 37         2 36         2 77         6 20         503         806         2 78         1 070         2 364	1989	194	1 732	54	115	53	407	55	432	32	427	388	3 113
241         1929         77         138         67         439         105         494         39         531         529           542         2100         179         143         125         464         287         556         123         608         1256           260         2367         122         161         93         507         108         636         61         696         644           251         2553         129         177         77         535         82         699         66         790         605           268         2772         123         186         77         4848         945         5497         539         5860         5829         3           Act of         337         236         227         620         503         806         278         1070         2364	1990	219	1 805	71	135	19	411	89	448	41	467	466	3 266
542         2 100         179         143         125         464         287         556         123         608         1 256           260         2 367         122         161         93         507         108         636         61         696         644           251         2 553         129         177         77         535         82         699         66         790         605           268         2 772         123         186         79         576         79         69         926         618           2603         2 1245         965         1 428         777         4 848         945         5 497         539         5 860         5 829         3           2603         2 915         337         2 36         2 27         620         503         806         278         1 070         2 364	1991	241	1 929	77	138	<i>L</i> 9	439	105	464	39	531	529	3 531
260         2367         122         161         93         507         108         636         61         696         644           251         2553         129         177         77         535         82         699         66         790         605           268         2772         123         186         79         576         79         69         926         618           2603         21245         965         1428         777         4848         945         5497         539         5860         5829         3           2603         2915         337         236         227         620         503         806         278         1070         2364	1992	542	2 100	179	143	125	464	287	256	123	809	1 256	3 871
251 2553 129 177 77 535 82 699 66 790 605  268 2772 123 186 79 576 79 760 69 926 618  2 603 21 245 965 1 428 777 4 848 945 5 497 539 5 860 5 829 3  Per of 1019 2 915 337 236 227 620 503 806 278 1 070 2 364	1993	260	2 367	122	161	93	507	108	989	61	969	644	4 367
268 2772 123 186 79 576 79 760 69 926 618 2 603 21 245 965 1 428 777 4 848 945 5 497 539 5 860 5 829 3 oet of 1019 2 915 337 236 227 620 503 806 278 1 070 2 364	1994	251	2 553	129	177	11	535	82	669	99	190	909	4 754
2 603     21 245     965     1 428     777     4 848     945     5 497     539     5 860     5 829     3       per of     1 019     2 915     337     236     227     620     503     806     278     1 070     2 364	1995	268	2772	123	186	42	915	79	092	69	926	618	5 220
1 019         2 915         337         236         227         620         503         806         278         1 070         2 364	Total	2 603	21 245	596	1 428	LLL	4 848	945	5 497	539	2 860	5 829	38 878
1019 2915 337 236 227 620 503 806 278 1070 2364	Number of												
	firms	1 019	2 915	337	236	227	620	503	908	278	1 070	2 364	5 647

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> TCU stands for transportation, communications and utilities.

Table 2 Coverage Ratios

Year			Percentage o	of Total San	ple Gross Ou	tput to Tot	tage of Total Sample Gross Output to Total Country Gross Output	oss Output		
	Manufacturing	cturing	Mining	ing	$TCU^a$	$U^a$	Trade	de	Services	ces
	Canada	U.S.	Canada	U.S.	Canada	u.S.	Canada	U.S.	Canada	U.S.
1985	64.5	64.6	30.1	17.5	92.7	78.7	34.0	40.7	3.9	10.9
1986	0.09	64.7	36.8	24.5	83.7	77.0	32.7	42.4	5.1	11.6
1987	61.6	68.0	26.4	25.8	81.4	74.7	32.4	42.0	6.5	12.7
1988	62.5	71.4	38.2	31.1	70.0	74.8	31.0	43.0	4.9	12.5
1989	65.4	72.8	36.1	31.8	6.65	75.9	45.1	45.7	4.7	11.6
1990	64.4	77.8	46.0	31.8	68.5	75.8	40.4	46.5	5.6	11.7
1991	62.4	7.77	42.5	25.9	73.1	79.3	45.0	48.9	4.3	11.9
1992	75.0	78.3	62.9	25.0	75.0	79.2	62.8	51.1	9.5	12.1
1993	6.79	78.1	47.8	26.1	63.1	83.4	70.3	54.2	8.5	12.9
1994	65.5	80.1	46.9	32.0	67.4	81.6	66.2	56.4	8.3	14.6
1995	61.1	88.2	43.0	33.5	2.69	87.8	0.89	59.0	8.9	17.7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> TCU stands for transportation, communications and utilities.

There are a number of caveats associated with our data set. First, the data set is not complete since the cost of goods sold, labour-related cost and/or R&D cost are missing in some years for some firms. <sup>12</sup> In this case, firms take the corresponding industry average (i.e., the average for 1 of the 26 industries) of cost of goods sold scaled by gross output, labour-related cost scaled by number of employees, and R&D cost scaled by sales. These industry averages are multiplied by the corresponding firm gross output, number of employees or sales to approximate the missing firm data.

Second, because of cross-ownership among firms in our data base, some of them are counted twice. However, this problem of overlapping is expected to have a minimal effect on our results since our regression analysis is based on a large sample of firms.

Third, firms are labelled as Canadian or U.S. according to where they are incorporated. This may not reflect their actual operations since multinationals are often incorporated in one country but have their operations in others. For instance, Northern Telecom is incorporated in Canada but has operations abroad, including in the United States, Asia and Europe. However, this bias is not likely to be serious since most firms have their major operations in the country where they are incorporated.

Finally, the data set is very unbalanced. The average observations per firm are 2.47 for Canada and 6.88 for the United States. Because of this feature, we are unable to test for autocorrelation with the unbalanced sample. However, the evidence from a small longitudinal sample extracted from the unbalanced sample, which is discussed in the section entitled "Estimation of the Productivity Gap," suggests that autocorrelation may not be a significant problem for the purpose of this study.

#### **Productivity Determinants**

In this section, we consider four factors to explain the productivity gap: labour quality, R&D, firm size and capacity utilization. These factors are selected on the basis of their availability. In the section entitled "Explanation of the TFP Gap," we discuss the industrial structure and its contribution to the productivity gap between the two countries.

Labour quality and R&D are two common factors considered in productivity analysis. Labour quality is positively associated with productivity since higher-quality workers are more effective in raising productivity by working with machines and other workers. In this paper, labour quality is measured by real labour compensation (PPP-based) because of the lack of other measurements, such as the educational attainment of workers. This proxy has been chosen because of the strong correlation between labor compensation and educational attainment of workers; see Murphy, Riddell and Romer (1997).

Expenditures on R&D often lead to innovation and advanced technology, which result in productivity improvement; see Griliches (1986). In this paper, R&D is measured by real R&D expenditures (PPP-based) divided by the weighted average of capital and labour, that is,  $R = RD/L^{\theta}K^{1-\theta}$ , where RD denotes real R&D expenditures and  $\theta$  denotes the average value of value-added labour shares in Canada and the United States at the 26-industry level.

We also consider capacity utilization to account for the business cycle of an economy. Firm size is introduced to differentiate the innovative capacity of large firms from that of small firms, and to capture size-related residuals that are not captured by other variables explored in this paper. Size differences can have two opposing effects on productivity: Large firms tend to have access to a larger pool of technology and their scale has a positive impact on productivity. On the other hand, these larger

Empirical Analysis 13

firms tend to be equipped with older capital, which may not be as productive as more recent vintages. The impact of size on productivity, therefore, can only be validated by empirical analysis. To capture the size effect, we divide firms into three groups according to their size, with the reference group being a small group in which each firm's capital is no greater than US\$30 million (PPP-based). The next size is represented by a dummy variable,  $S_2$ , equal to 1 for a group where each firm's capital is greater than US\$30 million (PPP-based) but less than US\$150 million (PPP-based) and to 0 otherwise.  $S_3$  equals 1 for a group where each firm's capital is greater than US\$150 million (PPP-based) and to 0 otherwise.

As discussed earlier, we also introduce industry and period dummies to capture productivity differences across industries and over time in each sector.

#### **Estimation of the Productivity Gap**

The estimation results of equation (2) for each country are reported in Table 3.17 The results indicate that the exogenous variable Z played a significant role in influencing TFP. As expected, the coefficient of the labour quality variable was statistically significant and had the expected sign. The R&D variable was positively and significantly related to productivity in all sectors in both countries, except in the U.S. trade sector. The low values of coefficients associated with R&D and the insignificance in trade are not surprising since the role played by R&D to improve productivity in this sector is very limited. The effect of capacity utilization on productivity varied, depending on sector and country. It had a positive and significant impact in manufacturing, mining and TCU for the United States, and in trade for both countries. The effect of firm size on productivity varied, also depending on sector and country. For Canada, large manufacturing firms appeared to be less productive, while medium and large mining firms were more productive. For the United States, medium manufacturing firms tended to be productive while large mining and trade firms and medium services firms were less productive. Firm size had no effect on productivity in TCU in both countries. Although the production function in all sectors in both countries was very close to constant returns to scale, different returns to scale occurred in different sectors in each country, as shown by the estimation results corresponding to the coefficient  $\alpha_L + \alpha_K + \alpha_L - 1$  in Table 3. For Canada, TCU and trade were characterized by decreasing returns to scale, mining and services by constant returns to scale, and manufacturing by increasing returns to scale.<sup>18</sup> For the United States, manufacturing, mining and TCU were characterized by increasing returns to scale, trade by decreasing returns to scale, and services by constant returns to scale.

From Table 3, we calculate the averages of the estimated slopes between the two countries. These averages are then used to calculate labour productivity and TFP gaps for the five broad sectors, as shown in Table 4.

All five of Canada's broad sectors were more intermediate goods—intensive than their U.S. counterparts in the 1993–95 period. Higher intermediate goods intensity in Canada was responsible for the country's relatively higher gross output—based labour productivity levels. After accounting for the intermediate input-labour ratio, Canadian firms' value added—based labour productivity levels were comparable to or lower than those of their U.S. counterparts, except in mining in the 1993–95 period. In addition, Canadian firms' value added—based labour productivity relative to that of U.S. firms declined in the 1989–92 period compared to the 1985–88 period in all sectors, and only the mining sector had fully recovered in the 1993–95 period. For instance, the value added—based relative labour productivity in Canadian manufacturing declined from 82.1 in the 1985–88 period to 69.9 in the 1989–92 period, and recovered to 75.7 in the 1993–95 period. This finding is consistent with that of Rao and Lemprière (1992b). They determine that Canada's manufacturing value-added labour productivity level relative to that of the United States was 81 in 1985 and 71 in 1990.

Independent Estimation Results of Equation (2) for Canada and the United States<sup>a</sup> Table 3

Industry	Manufacturing	cturing	Mining	ing	TCU	U <sup>b</sup>	Trade	de	Services	ices
Coefficient	Canada	U.S.	Canada	U.S.	Canada	U.S.	Canada	U.S.	Canada	U.S.
$\alpha_{\scriptscriptstyle K}$	0.123*	0.104*	0.135*	0.424*	0.129*	0.169*	0.030*	*060'0	0.141*	0.109*
	(12.6)	(22.0)	(7.6)	(23.7)	(9.1)	(26.8)	(3.4)	(16.8)	(6.5)	(15.2)
$\alpha_{_{\!M}}$	0.578*	0.334*	*885.0	0.314*	0.466*	0.379*	0.801*	0.637*	0.586*	0.440*
W	(64.1)	(92.1)	(33.6)	(22.0)	(36.3)	(67.4)	(86.4)	(161.9)	(31.3)	(61.7)
$\alpha_r + \alpha_R + \alpha_M - 1$	0.016*	0.038*	0.017	0.061*	*620.0-	0.014*	-0.024*	-0.019*	200.0	0.005
	(2.2)	(12.6)	(0.9)	(4.3)	(-2.6)	(3.4)	(-3.6)	(-5.3)	(0.5)	(0.9)
$lpha^{\circ}$	0.136*	0.223*	0.358*	0.376*	0.452*	0.274*	0.183*	0.419*	0.150*	0.370*
k k	(11.2)	(11.2)	(6.4)	(5.2)	(0.6)	(11.2)	(8.4)	(16.1)	(4.2)	(14.2)
$\alpha_{\scriptscriptstyle p}$	0.046*	0.131*	0.032*	0.145*	*670.0	0.094*	0.005*	0.000	*880.0	0.048*
V	(11.3)	(54.4)	(5.2)	(14.2)	(6.7)	(20.6)	(2.1)	(0.5)	(7.0)	(20.6)
$\alpha_{ij}$	0.531	0.425*	0.635	2.428*	0880	0.522**	2.286*	0.755*	1.162	0.336
	(1.3)	(2.2)	(1.1)	(3.5)	(1.5)	(1.8)	(5.2)	(3.4)	(1.1)	(0.8)
$lpha_{c.}$	-0.034	0.026*	0.288*	-0.020	0.014	0.026	0.001	-0.017	-0.117	-0.052**
7.00	(-1.2)	(2.1)	(4.8)	(-0.4)	(0.3)	(1.3)	(0.0)	(-1.2)	(-1.4)	(-1.8)
αç	-0.064**	0.003	0.262*	-0.145*	0.051	-0.001	0.038	-0.043*	-0.135	0.008
S C	(-1.7)	(0.2)	(3.1)	(-2.0)	(0.8)	(-0.1)	(0.9)	(-2.2)	(-1.2)	(0.2)
N	2 603	21 245	965	1 428	777	4 848	945	5 497	539	5 860
R-Square	0.77	0.53	0.81	0.73	0.82	0.78	0.93	0.91	0.78	0.55
										***************************************

a The constant and its related sector and period dummies are not reported. The *t*-ratio is in parentheses.
 b TCU stands for transportation, communications and utilities.
 \* Significance at 5% level.
 \*\* Significance at 10% level.

Productivity Level in Canada Relative to the United States<sup>a</sup> Table 4

					<b>!</b>	1		U.S. = 100	)					:	
	Maj	Manufacturing	ing		Mining			TCU			Trade			Services	
	85-88	85-88 89-92 93-95 85-88	93-95	82-88	89-92	93-95	82-88	89-92	89-92 93-95 85-88 89-92 93-95 85-88 89-92 93-95 85-88 89-92 93-95	82-88	89–92	93-95	82-88	89-92	93-95
Gross	108.2	108.2 97.5 101.4 79.4	101.4	79.4	113.8	129.8	91.2	80.0	81.8	135.3	119.7	114.6	85.6	105.7	124.8
output LP Value-	82.1	82.1 69.9 75.7 102.0	75.7	102.0	8.66	111.3	92.9	80.0	80.0	87.0	71.2	78.9	100.4	80.4	89.2
added LP TFP	78.3	78.3 66.1 69.8 93.9	8.69	93.9	87.0	96.3	93.6	81.1		77.0 86.1	71.0		77.4 99.3	79.6	84.0

<sup>a</sup> Based on the averages of estimated coefficients in Table 3, equation (4) is used to calculate the logarithmic difference between Canadian and U.S. firms' gross output-based labour productivity (L.P.). The exponent of the resulting number is taken to calculate Canada's gross-output labour productivity level relative to that of the United States. Similarly, value added-based labour productivity and TFP levels are calculated in the same manner based on equations (5) and (6).

<sup>b</sup> TCU stands for transportation, communications and utilities.

Part of the differences in value added-based relative labour productivity levels can be explained by differences in capital intensity between Canadian and U.S. firms. Once differences in capital intensity are adjusted, the resulting relative productivity levels (TFP levels) became lower for all sectors except TCU in the first two sub-periods. This is because Canadian firms were more capital-intensive than their U.S. counterparts, especially in manufacturing and mining. As in the case of value added-based relative labour productivity levels, Canadian firms' relative TFP levels declined in the 1989-92 period compared to those in the 1985-88 period in all sectors, and only the mining sector had fully recovered in the 1993-95 period. Thus the TFP gaps had widened in all sectors except mining between 1985-88 and 1993-95. In the last period (1993-95), Canada lagged behind the United States in TFP in all five sectors, with the gap ranging from 4 per cent in mining to 30 per cent in manufacturing. This suggests that Canadian firms' capital intensity had not changed much relative to their U.S. counterparts, at least not enough to close the widened gap in value added-based labour productivity.

To see the robustness of our estimation, we also estimate the productivity gap using a longitudinal sample extracted from the unbalanced sample.<sup>20</sup> The evidence from the smaller sample shows that correcting for heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation did not change the results significantly and neither did replacing real R&D expenditure by real R&D stock. The estimation based on the longitudinal sample is in Appendix C.

#### **Explanation of the TFP Gap**

In this section, we consider industrial structure, returns to scale and the five exogenous variables, discussed in the section on "Productivity Determinants," to explain the TFP gap and its widening. We first discuss the effect of industrial structure.

#### The Effect of Industrial Structure

So far, the productivity comparisons are based on firm averages, and the differences in industrial structures between the two countries are ignored. The result is that the estimated results partly reflect differences in industrial structure between the two economies. This is a potential problem, especially for manufacturing, which contains many heterogeneous industries. Table 5 shows both the actual and sample industry shares of gross output in the manufacturing sector. The sample structure was close to the actual structure, although the sample overestimated the shares of some industries such as "chemicals" and "transportation equipment," and underestimated the shares of some industries such as "apparel" and "fabricated metal." There is a slight difference between Canada's industrial structure and that of the United States. According to Table 5, Canada was concentrating more on "lumber and wood," "paper and allied," "primary metal" and "transportation equipment," and less on "chemicals," "rubber and misc. plastics," "non-electrical machinery" and "other manufacturing." To shed light on how industrial structure difference affects productivity comparisons, we conduct an exercise similar to that carried out by Rao and Lemprière (1992b). That is, we calculate the TFP gap in manufacturing between the two countries after imposing one country's industrial structure on the other country. <sup>21</sup> To this end, we first derive the productivity gap for each industry and then calculate the weighted sum of the industry productivity gaps for the manufacturing sector as a whole. The weight for each industry is the sample gross output share of this industry in the total manufacturing gross output in Canada or in the United States. As a result, the weighted sum of the industry productivity gaps is the average TFP gap in manufacturing after adjustment of differences in industrial structure.

Table 5
Manufacturing Sector Gross-Output Shares in Canada and the United States

Sector 8			<b>Fercent</b> :	age of Sec	ctor Gros	ss Output	t to Manu	Percentage of Sector Gross Output to Manufacturing Gross Output <sup>a</sup>	g Gross (	Jutput a		Ī
				1		1		,		1		
3			Actua	ual					Sample	ıple		
3		U.S.			Canada			U.S.			Canada	
	82-88	89-92	93-95	88-58	89-92	56-66	88-58	89-92	93-95	88-58	89-92	93-95
Food and kindred products	13.2	13.6	13.1	15.2	15.2	14.3	9.1	6.7	10.0	11.9	9.5	8.9
Textile mill products	2.5	2.4	2.4	2.2	2.0	1.7	0.7	8.0	1.0	0.7	1.0	6.0
Apparel	2.6	2.4	2.3	2.3	2.2	1.8	9.0	9.0	8.0	0.0	0.1	0.2
Lumber and wood	2.7	2.7	3.2	4.9	4.9	0.9	8.0	6.0	1.0	3.8	3.5	5.9
Furniture and fixtures	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.4	1.3	8.0	8.0	1.0	0.1	0.1	0.2
Paper and allied	4.4	4.6	4.3	7.9	9.7	7.3	4.1	4.5	4.5	11.3	10.3	8.1
Printing, publishing and allied	5.6	5.8	5.5	4.0	4.5	4.0	1.8	1.9	2.0	4.1	6.9	7.7
Chemicals	9.1	10.2	10.0	7.5	7.7	7.5	10.8	11.8	11.9	4.8	4.9	5.0
Petroleum and coal products	5.9	5.5	4.4	6.5	5.6	4.9	20.2	17.6	14.9	10.7	10.1	8.4
Rubber and misc. plastics	3.4	3.7	4.0	2.8	2.9	3.1	1.8	1.9	2.0	9.0	1.1	0.5
Stone, clay and glass	2.5	2.2	2.1	2.6	2.3	1.9	1.2	6.0	6.0	1.3	8.0	6.0
Primary metal	5.1	5.1	4.8	8.2	7.8	7.8	3.2	3.4	3.4	15.6	16.3	14.6
Fabricated metal	6.1	5.7	5.7	5.9	5.6	5.0	1.6	1.6	1.6	0.3	0.7	6.0
Machinery, non-electrical	0.6	8.8	9.5	3.2	3.3	3.3	9.3	10.0	11.4	3.5	3.6	3.6
Electrical machinery	7.7	6.9	8.0	0.9	7.0	7.7	7.8	8.5	9.4	9.6	6.2	8.0
Transportation equipment	13.8	13.1	13.4	17.1	17.8	20.5	21.0	19.7	19.1	24.8	23.9	27.4
Other manufacturing	4.9	5.9	9.6	2.2	2.1	2.0	5.3	5.4	5.1	6.0	1.2	6.0
Total manufacturing	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100

<sup>a</sup>Tobacco and leather sectors are excluded.

Table 6 presents the Canadian manufacturing productivity levels relative to those in the United States after adjustment for differences in industrial structure. For purposes of comparison, we also present Canada's relative productivity levels unadjusted for the different industrial structures, the results based on the two different industrial structures are very similar and they are both higher than the unadjusted results. Although the trend of Canadian productivity movement relative to that of the United States is unchanged after adjustment for the difference in industrial structures, the adjusted productivity gap between Canada and the United States becomes much smaller than the unadjusted gap for all three sub-periods. For instance, in the 1985–88 period Canada lagged behind the United States in TFP level by 22 per cent before adjustment for differences in industrial structure, and by 13 per cent after adjustment to the U.S. industrial structure. The adjusted TFP gap explained 57 per cent of the unadjusted TFP gap. Thus, differences in industrial structure accounted for the remaining 43 per cent of the unadjusted TFP gap. Similarly, the differences in industrial structure accounted for 25 per cent of the TFP gaps in the 1989–92 period, and 27 per cent in the 1993–95 period.

Table 6
Manufacturing Productivity Level in Canada Relative to the United States with and without Adjusting for Differences in Industrial Structure

	US=100			
Productivity	Structure Adjustment	85-88	89-92	93-95
	Unadjusted	108.2	97.5	101.4
Gross-output LP	Adjusted on Canadian Sample Structure	112.0	101.8	107.9
	Adjusted on U.S. Sample Structure	116.6	104.8	106.3
	Unadjusted	82.1	69.9	75.7
Value-added LP	Adjusted on Canadian Sample Structure	90.6	79.4	85.3
	Adjusted on U.S. Sample Structure	89.5	75.6	81.1
	Unadjusted	78.3	66.1	69.8
TFP	Adjusted on Canadian Sample Structure	88.2	76.2	80.5
	Adjusted on U.S. Sample Structure	87.0	73.2	77.0

Note: The productivity levels are adjusted for differences in industrial structure by attaching equal industry weights in both countries. The weight for each industry equals its sample gross output share of the manufacturing gross output in Canada or the United States, as shown in Table 5.

In view of the fact that the TFP gaps adjusted for industrial structure difference based on both the United States and Canada were lower than the unadjusted gap, we concluded that Canada was concentrating more on industries that were less productive.<sup>23</sup> Industrial structure thus played a role in determining the productivity gap between Canada and the United States. Rao and Lemprière (1992b) reach the same conclusion.

After adjustment for industrial structure, the TFP gaps remained at 13 per cent for the first period, 27 per cent for the second and 23 per cent for the third. The widening TFP gap thus remained after adjustment for industrial structure.

Productivity Level in Canada Relative to the United States<sup>a</sup> Table 7

			$\overline{}$						
		93_95	84.0	79.2	81.7	84.5	84.2	84.4	77.9
	Services	89-92	79.67	75.5	80.4	80.4	79.2	80.1	77.0
	-	85-88	99.3	85.4	101.4	96.4	886	266	84.6
		93-95	77.4	74.6	76.5	78.4	77.4	76.2	73.5
	Trade	••	71.0						
	   	85-88	86.1	82.3	84.6	81.1	86.1	83.9	74.3
		93-95	77.0	86.0	76.2	79.0	77.0	76.6	87.0
1.S. = 100	$\mathrm{TCU}^{\mathfrak{c}}$	89-92	81.1	8.98	76.7	82.9	81.1	80.7	83.6
1		82-88	93.6	99.5	96.3	91.3	93.6	93.4	7.66
		93-95	96.3	118.4	109.8	90.9	95.6	100.2	131.9
	Mining	89-92	87.0	102.4	106.4	9.08	87.2	90.2	120.3
		85-88	93.9	99.2	82.9	89.2	93.3	296.7	85.1
1	ng	93-95	77.0	80.0	83.6	19.6	76.8	79.2	92.1
	nufacturi	89-92	73.2	83.1	79.7	77.4	72.9	75.7	8.86
	Маг	85-88	87.0	90.1	96.4	86.2	86.9	89.2	101.5
			TFP	TFP adj. Q	TFP adj. R	TFP adj. U	TFP adj. S	TFP adj. RES	TFP adj. All

- Notes:

  \* The contribution of each factor (\$\overline{\alpha}\_{Z\_1} \Delta \text{lin} \overline{Z}\_i\$) is subtracted from equation (6) to calculate the logarithmic difference between Canadian and U.S. firms' TFP adjusted for factor Z<sub>i</sub>. The exponent of the resulting number is taken to calculate Canada's TFP level relative to that of the United States after adjusting for factor Z<sub>i</sub>.
- The TFP levels for manufacturing are Canadian relative TFP levels adjusted to the U.S. industrial structure. In this paper, we adjust manufacturing only for differences in industrial structures between the two countries because of the sector's importance, large TFP gap, higher coverage ratio and more heterogeneous industries.
- TCU stands for transportation, communications and utilities.

Empirical Analysis

#### The Effects of Labour Quality, R&D, Firm Size, Capacity Utilization and Returns to Scale

20

In order to explain the TFP gap and its widening, we consider five factors as explained in the section on "Empirical Framework." The Canadian relative TFP level after adjustment for each factor is listed in Table 7. The adjustment for manufacturing is based on the TFP level adjusted to the U.S. industrial structure.

First, an adjustment for labour quality raised relative TFP levels in manufacturing, mining and TCU, indicating that Canadian firms' labour quality lagged behind U.S. firms in these three sectors. For manufacturing, an adjustment of labour quality explained 25 per cent of the gap in the 1985–88 period, 41 per cent of the gap in the 1989–92 period and 15 per cent of the gap in the 1993–95 period. For mining, an adjustment for labour quality completely eliminated the TFP gap and put Canadian firms ahead of their U.S. counterparts in the last two periods. For TCU, an adjustment for labour quality explained 92 per cent of the gap in the 1985–88 period, 32 per cent of the gap in the 1989–92 period and 42 per cent of the gap in the 1993–95 period. On the other hand, an adjustment for labour quality did not explain much of the productivity gaps in trade and services.

An adjustment for R&D raised relative TFP levels for all three sub-periods in manufacturing, suggesting that Canadian firms lagged behind their U.S. counterparts in R&D effort — a finding consistent with that of Rao and Lemprière (1992b). In fact, differences in R&D accounted for 74 per cent of the TFP gap in manufacturing in the 1985–88 period, 27 per cent of the gap in the 1989–92 period and 31 per cent of the gap in the 1993–95 period. For mining, over the last two sub-periods R&D accounted for all the gaps. For other sectors, an adjustment for R&D did not significantly increase Canadian firms' relative TFP level; this indicates that Canadian firms in these sectors maintained R&D efforts similar to or higher than those of their U.S. counterparts, and that R&D was not responsible for the TFP gap in these sectors.

Capacity utilization accounted for some of the manufacturing TFP gap in the last two subperiods. It accounted for 18 per cent of the gap in the 1989–92 period, and 13 per cent of the gap in the 1993–95 period. Adjustment for differences in capacity utilization failed to raise significantly the relative TFP levels for other sectors, indicating that differences in capacity utilization were not responsible for the TFP gap in these sectors.

An adjustment for firm size left virtually unchanged the relative TFP levels; thus firm size was not responsible for the TFP gap in these sectors.

An adjustment for returns to scale explained a small portion of the TFP gap in mining. In any case, our estimates in Table 3 indicate that all five sectors were operating fairly close to constant returns to scale.

The combined effects of all five factors accounted for the entire TFP gap in manufacturing in the 1985–88 period, 96 per cent of the gap in the 1989–92 period, and 69 per cent of the gap in the 1993–95 period. In addition, these factors accounted for 6 per cent of the widening TFP gap in manufacturing between 1985–88 and 1993–95. After adjustment for differences in the five factors, Canada's TFP position relative to that of the United States in mining was reversed in the 1989-95 period and Canada's TFP level increased substantially over time. Thus these factors were responsible for the TFP gap in mining in Canada in the 1989-95 period. For TCU, an adjustment for all these factors reduced its TFP gap; the factors were responsible for 95 per cent of the TFP gap in the 1985–88 period, 14 per cent of the gap in the 1989–92 period, and 47 per cent of the gap in the 1993–95 period. The five factors were also responsible for 23 per cent of the widening TFP gap between 1985–88 and 1993–95 in this sector. In

trade and services, adjustments for differences in the five factors actually lowered relative TFP levels, indicating that the factors considered were in Canada's favour and were not responsible for the existence of a TFP gap in these sectors. But the factors were responsible for 91 per cent of the widening TFP gap in trade, and 56 per cent of the widening gap in services between 1985–88 and 1993–95.

#### CONCLUSIONS AND POLICY IMPLICATIONS

Measured by value-added labour productivity or TFP, Canadian firms' productivity performance deteriorated in the 1993–95 period compared to the 1985–88 period for all sectors except mining, and Canadian firms were less productive than their U.S. counterparts in all five broad sectors in the 1993–95 period. Capital intensity was relatively stable in Canada compared to the United States. Lower TFP and its deterioration were responsible for the poor value added–based labour productivity performance in Canada.

Important factors in explaining the TFP gap between Canadian and U.S. firms in these sectors were labour quality, R&D, capacity utilization and an unfavorable industrial structure in manufacturing; labour quality, R&D and returns to scale in mining; and R&D in TCU. However, the same factors were not responsible for the TFP gap in trade and services. Labour quality, R&D, capacity utilization, firm size and returns to scale together were responsible for the widening TFP gap between 1985–88 and 1993–95 in all sectors except mining.

This paper shows that R&D and labour quality are important in reducing the productivity gap between Canadian and U.S. firms. Given that Canada is a small, open economy with a high degree of foreign ownership, especially in the manufacturing sector, it may be difficult to raise formal R&D in Canada. However, lower taxes and other means to retain and attract top researchers will certainly help to raise R&D activity in Canada. But being a small, open economy, we cannot hope to raise the level of R&D on all fronts. Instead, Canada needs to find its niche in R&D activity through specialization. That is, specialization in R&D should coincide with our comparative advantages. Labour quality is another important element to reduce the productivity gap. Education and continuous learning should form the basis of the government's policy agenda. Moreover, the tax structure should minimize distortions so that learners and achievers would be rewarded properly. There are other possible factors that have not been investigated in this study. Future research may need to consider the effects of competition, free trade and taxes on the Canada—U.S. productivity gap.

### APPENDIX A THE OBSERVATION-OVERWHELMING EFFECT

Estimation of the parameters in equation (2) is essential to analyse the productivity gap. Some explanation is needed. It should be noted that when using the TFP measure, not only must all slopes be constant over the sample period but they must be the same across the two countries. Unfortunately, our sample evidence indicates that the estimated slopes between the two countries are not the same. Therefore, if the average slopes between the two countries are estimated by pooling both countries' samples together, the estimated results will be biased against Canada since the U.S. sample size is much larger than that of Canada. In other words, as the U.S. sample size increases, the estimation will give more weight to the United States. We call this phenomenon the observation-overwhelming effect. To confirm this conjecture, we conduct Monte Carlo experiments for manufacturing by randomly choosing a different number of U.S. observations without changing the number of Canadian observations in estimation. The results presented in Table A1 are based on repeating the same process 500 times. The first estimated TFP level in Canada relative to the United States is based on the same sample size for the United States and Canada. We then increase the sample size of the United States in experiments 2 and 3. The results show that the value-added labour productivity and TFP gap between Canada and the United States decreases with the increase in the U.S. sample size.

In Table A1, we also listed the results by estimating the labour productivity function using a sample pooling all the U.S. and Canadian observations together, as shown in the row named "Approach 1." The "Approach 2" row presents the results based on the technique used in our paper; that is, we estimate each country independently using its own observations, and then we use the average of the estimates to conduct productivity comparisons.

We arrive at two main conclusions from our Monte Carlo experiments. First, the standard deviation is very small for all experiments, implying that the sample sizes are large enough to produce stable estimation. Second, the means of value added—based labour productivity and TFP increase with the U.S. sample size. This suggests that the observation-overwhelming effect has distorted the estimation and needs to be corrected for in the estimation procedure.

An obvious way of eliminating the observation-overwhelming effect is to use an equal number of observations from the two countries in estimating equation (2). However, this results in efficiency loss since some valuable information is not used. A more efficient way is to estimate the coefficients for each country separately and to take an average of the estimated coefficients. The two methods, however, generate very similar results, as can be seen by comparing the first Monte Carlo experiment results in Table A1 with the results presented in the "Approach 2" row in the same table.

Table A1
Canada's Productivity Level in Manufacturing:
The Monte Carlo Experiments

(mean and standard deviation, U.S. = 100)

Monte Carlo 1 (U.S. observations 2 603; Can. observations 2 603; repeating times 500)											
Productivity	85–88		89	89-92		93–95					
Gross output LP	116	(2.6)	97	(2.1)	99	(2.7)					
Value-added LP	85	(1.5)	67	(1.3)	75	(1.7)					
TFP	79	(1.4)	63	(1.2)	69	(1.5)					
Monte Carlo 2 (U.S. observations 7 809; Can. observations 2 603; repeating times 500)											
Productivity	85–88		89–92		93–95						
Gross output LP	116	(1.4)	97	(1.1)	99	(1.3)					
Value-added LP	88	(0.9)	70	(0.7)	78	(0.9)					
TFP	83	(0.8)	67	(0.6)	72	(0.9)					
Monte Carlo 3 (U.S. observations 13 015; Can. observations 2 603; repeating times 500)											
Productivity	85-88		89-92		93–95						
Gross output LP	116	(0.8)	97	(0.6)	99	(0.7)					
Value-added LP	89	(0.5)	71	(0.5)	79	(0.5)					
TFP	84	(0.5)	68	(0.4)	73	(0.5)_					
Approach 1: (U.S. observations 2	1 245; Can.	observation	ns 2 603)								
Productivity	85–88		89-92		93-95						
Gross output LP	116		97		99						
Value-added LP	90		72		79						
TFP	85		68		73						
Approach 2: (U.S. observations 21 245; Can. observations 2 603)											
Productivity	85	-88	89	-92	93-	-95					
Gross output LP	116	·	97	<del></del>	99						
Value-added LP	84		66		74						
TFP	79		63		69	=					

#### Notes:

Standard deviation is in parentheses.

All productivity is calculated using a simple firm average; that is, each firm is equally weighted. Two different methods are employed to estimate the slope coefficients used to calculate each firm's productivity. For all Monte Carlo experiments and Approach 1, we assume that the slope coefficients of the two countries are the same and estimate them by simply pooling both countries' samples together. For Approach 2, we estimate the coefficients for each country independently and then use the simple averages of their estimates for both countries.

# APPENDIX B DATA DESCRIPTION

Table B1
List of Variables and Parameters Used

Variable	Description	Source		
S	Net sales (current \$)	Compustat / Compact Disclosure		
I	Inventory change (current \$)	Compustat / Compact Disclosure		
		Industry average (I/S) multiplied by firm's S for missing		
		firm data		
YN	Gross output (current \$)	=S-I		
KN	Net PPE (property, plant and equipment, current \$)	Compustat / Compact Disclosure <sup>1</sup>		
CG	Cost of goods sold	Compustat / Compact Disclosure		
	(current \$)	Industry data used for missing firm data		
L	Total number of employees	Compustat / Compact Disclosure <sup>2</sup>		
WLN	Total labour compensation	Compustat / Compact Disclosure		
	(current \$)	Industry average ( $WLN/L$ ) multiplied by firm's $L$ for		
		missing firm data		
WN	Labour compensation per	= WLN/L		
	worker (current \$)			
MN	Intermediate input, including	= CG - WLN		
	energy and material			
RD	Total expenditure on R&D	Compustat / Compact Disclosure		
		Industry average (RD/S) multiplied by firm's S for missing		
		firm data		
PY	Gross output deflator (26	Canada: CANSIM <sup>3</sup>		
	industries)	United States: U.S. Department of Commerce <sup>4</sup>		
PK	Capital deflator (26	Canada: Statistics Canada		
	industries)	United States: Survey of Current Bussiness (May 1997)		
PM	Intermediate goods deflator	Canada: Statistics Canada's KLEMS data base <sup>5</sup>		
	(26 industries)	United States: Jorgenson's KLEM data base <sup>6</sup>		
Y	Gross output (real \$)	= YN/PY		
K	Capital stock (real \$)	= KN/PK		
M	Intermediate input (real \$)	=MN/PM		
Q	Labour quality	= WN/PY		
$\theta$	Value-added labour share	StatCan's KLEMS and Jorgenson's KLEM		
R	R&D factor	$= RD/L^{\theta}K^{1-\theta}$		
U	Capacity utilization	Canada: CANSIM <sup>7</sup>		
	· ·	United States: Business Statistics of the United States (1996 edition)		

### Table B1 (cont'd)

Variable	Description	Source
g	R&D expenditure average growth rate over 1973–85	OECD ANBERD data base; CANSIM; NBER data base
RS	R&D stocks	$RS_{85} = RN_{85}/(\delta+g);$
		$RS_{t} = (1 - \delta)RS_{t-1} + RD_{t}$
$P_{I}$	Period dummy for 1985–88	
$P_2$	Period dummy for 1989–92	
$P_3$	Period dummy for 1993–95	
$S_I$	Size dummy for firms with capital of	
	less than \$30 million	
$S_2$	Size dummy for firms with capital of over \$30 million but less than \$150 million	
$S_3$	Size dummy for firms with capital of over \$150 million	
PPPs	Purchasing power parities	Pilat (1996b), OECD (1993)

#### Notes:

- 1 Net PPE (property, plant and equipment) is used since it depreciates old capital to allow for technological obsolescence while gross PPE, which does not depreciate old capital, may exaggerate capital stock levels of firms.
- There are no data on hours worked. However, for the purposes of our study, the use of the number of employees is not likely to affect the results significantly since hours worked per employed person in Canada and the United States are almost the same; see Dougherty (1991), p. 8.12.
- The gross output deflator is a producer price index at the 26-industry level. For Canada, the source for all industries for 1985-92 and for manufacturing for 1993-95 is CANSIM. Data for non-manufacturing sectors for 1993-95 are not available. They are approximated by extending the figures of these sectors in 1992 in accordance with the change in the implicit price index for GDP.
- 4 For the United States, the source for all industries for 1985–94 is the U.S. Department of Commerce. Data for 1995 are not available. They are approximated by extending the figures in 1994 in accordance with the growth rates of industrial production of all industries, taken from *Business Statistics of the United States* (1996 edition).
- The intermediate goods deflator is a producer price index at the 26-industry level. For Canada for 1985–92, it is constructed from the Statistics Canada's KLEMS data base. For the remaining years, it is approximated by extending the figures in 1992 in accordance with the growth rates of output price.
- For the United States for 1985–91, the intermediate goods deflator is constructed from the Input-Output Data Base by Dale W. Jorgenson. For the remaining years, it is approximated by extending the figures in 1991 in accordance with the growth rates of output price.
- 7 Capacity utilization is at the 5-industry level. For both Canada and the United States, data are only available for manufacturing and mining. For other sectors, capacity utilization for total industry is used.

## APPENDIX C THE ESTIMATION BASED ON A LONGITUDINAL SAMPLE

The estimated results based on the unbalanced data set may reflect influences from heteroscedasticity, autocorrelation or mispresentation of the R&D variable. In order to assess the impacts of these possible influences on the estimated results, we estimate our model using manufacturing's longitudinal data extracted from the unbalanced sample. We carry out this exercise only for manufacturing since we do not have enough observations for other sectors. The longitudinal data set for manufacturing contains 59 Canadian and 1 115 U.S. manufacturing firms from 1985 to 1995. The log-likelihood statistical tests (not reported) show significant heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation in the longitudinal sample.

The relative productivity levels under various assumptions are reported in Table C1. According to this table, the TFP gaps based on the longitudinal sample under the assumptions of homoscedasticity and non-autocorrelation (column i of each period) were smaller than those based on the unbalanced sample. The departure was due mainly to the different industrial structures of the two samples.

The empirical results based on the longitudinal data adjusted for heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation (in column *ii* of each period) were not significantly different from those under the assumptions of homoscedasticity and non-autocorrelation.

So far our empirical results are based on the variable R constructed as the ratio of R&D expenditures to weighted capital and labour. We also consider a more commonly used R&D variable, the ratio of R&D stock to weighted capital and labour. The estimated results using the new R&D variable are presented in column *iii* of each period in Table C1.<sup>25</sup> Again it is clear that this consideration has no significant impact on our results.

Canada's Productivity Level Relative to that of the United States in Manufacturing, with Longitudinal Data Table C1

-	=					U.S.	= 100					
Period		82-8	-88			89	89-92			93	93–95	
Canadian	Whole	$\mathbf{T}$	Longitudir	ıal	Whole	T	Longitudina	al	Whole	Γ	ongitudina	lal
productivity level	data				data				data			
		(i)	(ii)	(iii)		(E)	(ii)	(iii)		Θ	(E)	(iii)
Gross output LP	108.2	108.0	108.0	108.0	97.5	103.2	103.2	103.2	101.4	112.4	112.4	112.4
Value-added LP	82.1	87.8	91.6	92.4	6.69	79.0	83.4	84.4	75.7	0.98	200.7	91.8
TFP	78.3	83.3	85.6	85.0	66.1	73.6	76.2	75.4	8.69	79.1	81.8	80.7

Notes:

In case (i), R&D is introduced in the form of R&D expenditures, weighted by the average values of capital and labour, as before. R&D expenditures were not weighted by Y as commonly used since Y is assumed to be endogenous.

In case (ii), case (i) is adjusted for heteroscedasticity and autocorrelation.

In case (iii), R&D expenditures in case (ii) are replaced by R&D stocks.

### **NOTES**

- A study by Dougherty and Jorgenson (1997) is an exception. The authors find that Canada's productivity level was slightly higher than that of the United States in 1989. Their measurement of productivity differs from that of others in that they adjust for differences in capital and labour quality.
- They did not have the data to calculate TFP for non-manufacturing industries in the United States.
- The Cobb-Douglas production function is assumed since it allows us to clearly define TFP as the ratio of output to a weighted sum of capital, labour and intermediate input. Because of its simplicity, this functional form has been commonly used for productivity analysis in the literature for instance, by Bernard and Jones (1996a,b), Ehrlich et al. (1994), Griliches (1986) and Wolff (1991). Furthermore, a TFP gap derived from a translog production function also takes a Cobb-Douglas form, as in equation (3); see Jorgenson (1995).
- In this paper, the efficiency coefficient, A, is assumed to be a function of several exogenous variables, Z, discussed in the next section.
- There are 19 industries in manufacturing, 4 in mining, 3 in TCU, 2 in trade and 1 industry in services.
- As an alternative measure to TFP, Bernard and Jones (1996a) discuss the total technological productivity (TTP), allowing output elasticities to differ between two countries. We attempt TTP measures with inputs based on Canadian or U.S. firms. The average TTP gaps are very different. This is not surprising since there are several problems associated with the measure. First, the measurement of the TTP gap is sensitive to the choice of K, L and M. Should Canada's or the United State's K, L, M or the two countries' averages be used? No economic theory tells us how K, L and M should be chosen. Second, it is impossible to carry out a decomposition exercise to assess the contribution of each factor to the TTP measurement since the calculated contribution is sensitive to the units of measurement for each factor. Finally, the measurement of the TTP gap is sensitive to the level of aggregation. For instance, inputs at the firm level are much smaller than inputs at the economy-wide level, resulting in a very different measurement of the gap.
- See Diewert (1976), Diewert and Nakamura (1993), and Good, Nadiri and Sickles (1996) for the index number approach to productivity measurement.
- We also implicitly assume that the elasticities are constant over the sample period so that comparisons can be made over time.
- 9 TFP is generally defined as A, the efficiency coefficient in equation (1). In this paper, it is defined as A plus the returns to scale component. The departure is solely for the sake of simplicity and will not affect our results since the returns to scale component was not an important factor in determining productivity gaps between the two countries.

- The 26 industries are composed of 19 manufacturing industries (corresponding to the Statistics Canada two-digit classification) plus mining, transportation, communications, utilities, wholesale trade, retail trade, and services industries. Agriculture, fishing, forestry and construction are excluded because of inadequate observations; finance, insurance and real estate are excluded because their behavior is difficult to predict; in addition, the measurement of their variables is subject to error since they do not produce tangible output. See Maclean (1997).
- Because of the lack of firm-specific deflators, this methodology is often used in empirical studies based on firm data. See, for example, Griliches and Mairesse (1991), Hall and Mairesse (1995) and Mairesse and Hall (1996).
- Of the observations, 4 per cent are missing data for intermediate input, 69 per cent for labourrelated cost, and 28 per cent for R&D.
- One major problem with this proxy is the causality between the productivity and labour compensation. Some people may argue that more productive firms pay higher labour compensation. This is possible. Unfortunately, we do not have better alternatives. Jensen, McGuckin and Stiroh (1998) also use wages as a proxy for the quality of the work force.
- Alternatively, we experiment with real R&D stock per labour with longitudinal data. The results are discussed at the end of the next section.
- In our estimation, the average value of the 1990 value-added labour shares of Canada and the United States is used.
- Sales or the number of employees can also be used to measure firm size. However, different choices of these variables do not make significant differences to our results.
- The reported results assume homoscedasticity. Different specifications of heteroscedasticity are considered but they do not generate significantly different results. These results, therefore, are not reported.
- The size effect should not be confused with returns to scale. Small firms may maintain a production function characterized by increasing returns to scale.
- Canadian relative productivity levels fell in the 1989–92 period, mainly because of the fall in Canadian productivity levels in this period the result of a recession that was more severe in Canada than in the United States.
- The longitudinal data set contains 59 Canadian and 1,115 U.S. manufacturing firms for the period from 1985 to 1995.
- We carry out this exercise only for manufacturing because of its importance, large productivity gap and high coverage ratio.
- For a decomposition of the unadjusted TFP gap into a structure-adjusted TFP gap and the gap caused by the differences in industrial structure, see Tang and Rao (1998).

- The sufficient condition for this statement is that both adjusted TFP gaps based on the two countries' industrial structures had to be lower than the unadjusted TFP gap because of different industry TFP levels between the two countries.
- The gross output-based labour productivity gap does not change as the U.S. sample size increases since it is determined by  $\Delta \overline{\ln(Y/L)} = \overline{\ln(Y/L)}^{CAN} \overline{\ln(Y/L)}^{US}$ , which is not affected by the estimated parameters.
- R&D stock is estimated by the equation  $RS_t = (1-\delta)RS_{t-1} + RD_t$ , where  $\delta$  and  $RD_t$  denote the depreciation rate and R&D expenditure respectively in year t. We assume  $\delta = 0.1$ , which is frequently used in literature; see, e.g., Gera, Gu and Lee (1998b). The R&D stock in the initial year (1985) is estimated by the equation  $RS_{85} = RD_{85}/(\delta + g)$ , where g is the average growth rate of R&D expenditure over the period 1973–85, based on the OECD's Analytical Database of Business Enterprise R&D (ANBERD). The R&D expenditures are deflated by gross output deflator constructed from CANSIM for Canada and from the National Bureau of Economic Research (NBER) productivity data base for the United States.

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Baily, Martin Neil and Hans Gersbach. "Efficiency in Manufacturing and the Need for Global Competition." *Brookings Papers: Microeconomics*, 4 (1995):307–58.
- Baumol, William J. "Productivity Growth, Convergence, and Welfare: What the Long-Run Data Show." *American Economic Review*, 76 (1986):1072–85.
- Bernard, Andrew B. and Charles I. Jones. "Comparing Apples to Oranges: Productivity Convergence and Measurement across Industries and Countries." *American Economic Review*, 86 (1996a):1216–38.
- ——. "Productivity across Industries and Countries: Time Series Theory and Evidence." Review of Economics and Statistics, 78 (1996b):135–46.
- Brynjolfsson, Erik and Lorin Hitt. "Paradox Lost? Firm-level Evidence on the Returns to Information Systems Spending." MIT Sloan School Working Paper 3786, 1994.
- Costello, Donna M. "A Cross-Country, Cross-Industry Comparison of Productivity Growth." *Journal of Political Economy*, 101 (1993):207–22.
- De Jong, Gjalt. "Canada's Post-War Manufacturing Performance: A Comparison with the United States." Research Memorandum GD-32. University of Gronigen, Groningen Growth and Development Centre, Netherlands, 1996.
- De Long, Bradford. "Productivity Growth, Convergence, and Welfare: Comment." *American Economic Review*, 78 (1988):1138–59.
- Denny, Michael, Jeffrey Bernstein, Melvyn Fuss, Shinichiro Nakamura and Leonard Waverman. "Productivity in manufacturing industries, Canada, Japan and the United States, 1953–1986: Was the 'productivity slowdown' reversed?" *Canadian Journal of Economics*, 25 (1992):584–603.
- Diewert, W. Erwin. "Exact and Superlative Index Numbers," Journal of Econometrics, 4 (1976):115-45.
- Diewert, W. Erwin and Alice O. Nakamura. *Essays in Index Number Theory*, vol. 1. Amsterdam: North-Holland, 1993.
- Dollar, David and Edward N. Wolff. Competitiveness, Convergence, and International Specialization. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, 1993.
- Dougherty, John Chrysostom. A Comparison of Productivity and Economic Growth in the G-7 countries. PhD thesis, Harvard University, 1991.
- Dougherty, Chrys and Dale W. Jorgenson. "There is No Silver Bullet: Investment and Growth in the G7." *National Institute Economic Review*, 162 (1997):57–74.

- Dowrick, Steve and Duc-Tho Nguyen. "OECD Comparative Economic Growth 1950–85: Catch-up and Convergence." *American Economic Review*, 79 (1989):1010–30.
- Ehrlich, Isaac, Georges Gallais-Hamonno, Zhiqiang Liu and Randall Lutter. "Productivity Growth and Firm Ownership: An Analytical and Empirical Investigation." *Journal of Political Economy*, 102 (1994):1006–38.
- Englander, A. Steven and Andrew Gurney. "Medium-Term Determinants of OECD Productivity." *OECD Economic Studies*, 22 (1994a):49–109.
- ——. "OECD Productivity Growth: Medium-Term Trends." *OECD Economic Studies*, 22 (1994*b*):111–29.
- Gera, Surendra, Wulong Gu and Frank C. Lee. "Information Technology and Labour Productivity Growth: An Empirical Analysis for Canada and the United States." *Canadian Journal of Economics*, forthcoming (1998a).
- ——. "Capital-Embodied Technical Change and the Productivity Growth Slowdown in Canada." Working Paper 21. Industry Canada, Ottawa, 1998b.
- . "The Effect of Foreign Direct Investment on Productivity Growth in Canada." Mimeograph. Industry Canada 1998c.
- Good, David H., M. Ishag Nadiri and Robin C. Sickles. "Index Number and Factor Demand Approaches to the Estimation of Productivity." NBER Working Paper 5790. Cambridge, Mass.: National Bureau of Economic Research, 1996.
- Griliches, Zvi. "Productivity, R&D, and Basic Research at the Firm Level in the 1970s." *American Economic Review*, 76 (1986):141–54.
- Griliches, Zvi and Jacques Mairesse. "Comparing Productivity Growth: An Exploration of French and U.S. Industrial and Firm Data," in *International Volatility and Economic Growth: The First Ten Years of the International Seminar on Macroeconomics*, pp. 45–75. Edited by Georges Menil and Robert J. Gordon. Amsterdam: North-Holland, 1991.
- Hall, Bronwyn H. and Jacques Mairesse. "Exploring the Relationship between R&D and Productivity in French Manufacturing Firms." *Journal of Econometrics*, 65 (1995):263–93.
- Ichniowski, Casey and Kathryn Shaw. "Old Dogs and New Tricks: Determinants of the Adoption of Productivity-Enhancing Work Practices." *Brookings Papers: Microeconomics*, 4 (1995):1–65.
- Jensen, J. Bradford, Robert H. McGuckin and Kevin J. Stiroh. "The Impact of Vintage and Age on Productivity: Evidence from Cohorts of U.S. Manufacturing Plants." Mimeo, 1998.
- Jorgenson, Dale W. (ed). *Productivity: Volume 2 International Comparisons of Economic Growth.* Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, 1995.
- Keay, Ian E.M. "Canadian and American Manufacturing Productivity during the 20th Century: New Firm-Level Evidence." Mimeo. Department of Economics, University of British Columbia, 1997.

- Lehr, Bill and Frank Lichtenberg. "Information Technology and Its Impact on Firm-Level Productivity: Evidence from Government and Private Data Sources, 1977–1993." Paper presented at the CSLS Conference on Service Centre Productivity and the Productivity Paradox. Ottawa, 1997.
- Li, Wei. "The Impact of Economic Reform on the Performance of Chinese State Enterprises, 1980–1989." *Journal of Political Economy*, 105 (1997):1080–1106.
- Maclean, Dinah. "Lagging Productivity Growth in the Service Sector: Mismeasurement, Mismanagement or Misinformation?" Bank of Canada Working Paper 97-6, 1997.
- Mairesse, Jacques and Bronwyn H. Hall. "Estimating the Productivity of Research and Development: An Exploration of GMM Methods using Data on French and United States Manufacturing Firms."

  NBER Working Paper 5501. Cambridge, Mass.: National Bureau of Economic Research, 1996.
- Murphy, Kevin, Craig Ridell and Paul Romer. Wages and Technology in the United States and Canada. Canadian Institute for Advanced Research, 1997.
- Nickell, Stephen J. "Competition and Corporate Performance." *Journal of Political Economy*, 104 (1996):724–46.
- OECD. Purchasing Power Parities and Real Expenditures for Canada and the United States. Paris, 1993.
- Pilat, Dirk. "Competition, Productivity and Efficiency." *OECD Economic Studies*, 27 (1996a):107–46.

  ———. "Labour Productivity Levels in OECD Countries: Estimates for Manufacturing and Selected Service Sectors." OECD Working Paper 86. Paris: OECD, 1996b.
- Rao, P. Someshwar and Tony Lemprière. "A Comparison of the Total Factor Productivity and Total Cost Performance of Canadian and U.S. Industries." Working Paper 45. Economic Council of Canada, 1992a.
- ——. Canada's Productivity Performance. Research study published by the Canada Communications Group, 1992b.
- Statistics Canada. *Aggregate Productivity Measures 1994*. Statistics Canada Catalogue No. 15-204-XPE, 1996.
- Tang, Jianmin and Someshwar Rao. "Productivity Gap between Canadian-Controlled and Foreign-Controlled Corporations in Canadian Manufacturing." Industry Canada, 1998.
- Van Ark, Bart and Dirk Pilat. "Productivity Levels in Germany, Japan and the United States: Differences and Causes." *Brookings Papers: Microeconomics*, 2 (1993):1–69.
- Wolff, Edward N. "Capital Formation and Productivity Convergence over the Long Term." *American Economic Review*, 81 (1991):565–79.
- ——. "The Productivity Slowdown: The Culprit at Last? Follow-Up on Hulten and Wolff." *American Economic Review*, 86 (1996):1239–52.

## INDUSTRY CANADA RESEARCH PUBLICATIONS

#### INDUSTRY CANADA WORKING PAPER SERIES

- No. 1 Economic Integration in North America: Trends in Foreign Direct Investment and the Top 1,000 Firms, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including John Knubley, Marc Legault and P. Someshwar Rao, 1994.
- No. 2 Canadian-Based Multinationals: An Analysis of Activities and Performance, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including P. Someshwar Rao, Marc Legault and Ashfaq Ahmad, 1994.
- No. 3 International R&D Spillovers Between Industries in Canada and the United States, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1994.
- No. 4 The Economic Impact of Mergers and Acquisitions on Corporations, Gilles Mcdougall, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 5 Steppin' Out: An Analysis of Recent Graduates Into the Labour Market, Ross Finnie, School of Public Administration, Carleton University and Statistics Canada, 1995.
- No. 6 Measuring the Compliance Cost of Tax Expenditures: The Case of Research and Development Incentives, Sally Gunz, University of Waterloo, Alan Macnaughton, University of Waterloo, and Karen Wensley, Ernst & Young, Toronto, under contract with Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 7 Governance Structure, Corporate Decision-Making and Firm Performance in North America, P. Someshwar Rao and Clifton R. Lee-Sing, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 8 Foreign Direct Investment and APEC Economic Integration, Ashfaq Ahmad, P. Someshwar Rao and Colleen Barnes, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 9 World Mandate Strategies for Canadian Subsidiaries, Julian Birkinshaw, Institute of International Business, Stockholm School of Economics, under contract with Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 10 **R&D Productivity Growth in Canadian Communications Equipment and Manufacturing**, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 11 **Long-run Perspective on Canadian Regional Convergence**, Serge Coulombe, Department of Economics, University of Ottawa, and Frank C. Lee, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 12 Implications of Technology and Imports on Employment and Wages in Canada, Frank C. Lee, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 13 The Development of Strategic Alliances in Canadian Industries: A Micro Analysis, Sunder Magun, Applied International Economics, 1996.
- No. 14 **Employment Performance in the Knowledge-Based Economy**, Surendra Gera, Industry Canada, and Philippe Massé, Human Resources Development Canada, 1996.
- No. 15 **The Knowledge-Based Economy: Shifts in Industrial Output**, Surendra Gera, Industry Canada, and Kurt Mang, Department of Finance, 1997.

- No. 16 Business Strategies of SMEs and Large Firms in Canada, Gilles Mcdougall and David Swimmer, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1997.
- No. 17 Impact of China's Trade and Foreign Investment Reforms on the World Economy, Winnie Lam, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1997.
- No. 18 Regional Disparities in Canada: Characterization, Trends and Lessons for Economic Policy, Serge Coulombe, Department of Economics, University of Ottawa, 1997.
- No. 19 Inter-Industry and U.S. R&D Spillovers, Canadian Industrial Production and Productivity Growth, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 20 Information Technology and Labour Productivity Growth: An Empirical Analysis for Canada and the United States, Surendra Gera, Wulong Gu and Frank C. Lee, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 21 Capital-Embodied Technical Change and the Productivity Growth Slowdown in Canada, Surendra Gera, Wulong Gu and Frank C. Lee, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 22 The Corporate Tax Structure and the Effects on Production, Cost and Efficiency, Jeffrey I. Bernstein, Carleton University and National Bureau of Economic Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 23 Restructuring in Canadian Industries: A Micro Analysis, Sunder Magun, Applied International Economics, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 24 Canadian Government Policies Toward Inward Foreign Direct Investment, Steven Globerman, Simon Fraser University and Western Washington University, and Daniel Shapiro, Simon Fraser University, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 25 A Structuralist Assessment of Technology Policies Taking Schumpeter Seriously on Policy, Richard G. Lipsey and Kenneth Carlaw, Simon Fraser University, with a contribution by Davit D. Akman, research associate, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 26 Intrafirm Trade of Canadian-Based Foreign Transnational Companies, Rick Cameron, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 27 Recent Jumps in Patenting Activities: Comparative Innovative Performance of Major Industrial Countries, Patterns and Explanations, Mohammed Rafiquzzaman and Lori Whewell, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 28 **Technology and the Demand for Skills: An Industry-Level Analysis**, Surendra Gera and Wulong Gu, Industry Canada, and Zhengxi Lin, Statistics Canada, 1999.
- No. 29 **The Productivity Gap Between Canadian and U.S. Firms**, Frank Chung Lee and Jianmin Tang, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis, Industry Canada, 1999.

## INDUSTRY CANADA DISCUSSION PAPER SERIES

- No. 1 Multinationals as Agents of Change: Setting a New Canadian Policy on Foreign Direct Investment, Lorraine Eden, Carleton University, 1994.
- No. 2 **Technological Change and International Economic Institutions**, Sylvia Ostry, Centre for International Studies, University of Toronto, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.

- No. 3 Canadian Corporate Governance: Policy Options, Ronald. J. Daniels, Faculty of Law, University of Toronto, and Randall Morck, Faculty of Business, University of Alberta, 1996.
- No. 4 Foreign Direct Investment and Market Framework Policies: Reducing Frictions in APEC Policies on Competition and Intellectual Property, Ronald Hirshhorn, 1996.
- No. 5 Industry Canada's Foreign Investment Research: Messages and Policy Implications, Ronald Hirshhorn, 1997.
- No. 6 International Market Contestability and the New Issues at the World Trade Organization, Edward M. Graham, Institute for International Economics, Washington (DC), under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.

#### INDUSTRY CANADA OCCASIONAL PAPER SERIES

- No. 1 Formal and Informal Investment Barriers in the G-7 Countries: The Country Chapters, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including Ashfaq Ahmad, Colleen Barnes, John Knubley, Rosemary D. MacDonald and Christopher Wilkie, 1994.
  - Formal and Informal Investment Barriers in the G-7 Countries: Summary and Conclusions, Industry Canada, Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Staff including Ashfaq Ahmad, Colleen Barnes and John Knubley, 1994.
- No. 2 Business Development Initiatives of Multinational Subsidiaries in Canada, Julian Birkinshaw, University of Western Ontario, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 3 The Role of R&D Consortia in Technology Development, Vinod Kumar, Research Centre for Technology Management, Carleton University, and Sunder Magun, Centre for Trade Policy and Law, University of Ottawa and Carleton University, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 4 **Gender Tracking in University Programs**, Sid Gilbert, University of Guelph, and Alan Pomfret, King's College, University of Western Ontario, 1995.
- No. 5 Competitiveness: Concepts and Measures, Donald G. McFetridge, Department of Economics, Carleton University, 1995.
- No. 6 Institutional Aspects of R&D Tax Incentives: The SR&ED Tax Credit, G. Bruce Doern, School of Public Administration, Carleton University, 1995.
- No. 7 Competition Policy as a Dimension of Economic Policy: A Comparative Perspective, Robert D. Anderson and S. Dev Khosla, Economics and International Affairs Branch, Bureau of Competition Policy, Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 8 Mechanisms and Practices for the Assessment of The Social and Cultural Implications of Science and Technology, Liora Salter, Osgoode Hall Law School, University of Toronto, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 9 Science and Technology: Perspectives for Public Policy, Donald G. McFetridge, Department of Economics, Carleton University, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 10 Endogenous Innovation and Growth: Implications for Canada, Pierre Fortin, Université du Québec à Montréal and the Canadian Institute for Advanced Research, and Elhanan Helpman, Tel Aviv University and the Canadian Institute for Advanced Research, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 11 **The University-Industry Relationship in Science and Technology**, Jérôme Doutriaux, University of Ottawa, and Margaret Barker, Meg Barker Consulting, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.

- No. 12 **Technology and the Economy: A Review of Some Critical Relationships**, Michael Gibbons, University of Sussex, under contract with Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 13 Management Skills Development in Canada, Keith Newton, Industry Canada, 1995.
- No. 14 The Human Factor in Firm's Performance: Management Strategies for Productivity and Competitiveness in the Knowledge-Based Economy, Keith Newton, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 15 Payroll Taxation and Employment: A Literature Survey, Joni Baran, Industry Canada, 1996.
- No. 16 Sustainable Development: Concepts, Measures, Market and Policy Failures at the Open Economy, Industry and Firm Levels, Philippe Crabbé, Institute for Research on the Environment and Economy, University of Ottawa, 1997.
- No. 17 Measuring Sustainable Development: A Review of Current Practice, Peter Hardi and Stephan Barg, with Tony Hodge and Laszlo Pinter, International Institute for Sustainable Development, 1997.
- No. 18 Reducing Regulatory Barriers to Trade: Lessons for Canada from the European Experience, Ramesh Chaitoo and Michael Hart, Center for Trade Policy and Law, Carleton University, 1997.
- No. 19 Analysis of International Trade Dispute Settlement Mechanisms and Implications for Canada's Agreement on Internal Trade, E. Wayne Clendenning and Robert J. Clendenning, E. Wayne Clendenning & Associates Inc., under contract with Industry Canada, 1997.
- No. 20 Aboriginal Businesses: Characteristics and Strategies for Growth, David Caldwell and Pamela Hunt, Management Consulting Centre, under contract with Aboriginal Business Canada, Industry Canada, 1998.

### CANADA IN THE 21ST CENTURY SERIES

- No. 1 **Global Trends: 1980-2015 and Beyond**, J. Bradford De Long, University of California, Berkeley, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 2 **Broad Liberalization Based on Fundamentals: A Framework for Canadian Commercial Policy**, Randy Wigle, Wilfrid Laurier University, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 3 North American Economic Integration: 25 Years Backward and Forward, Gary C. Hufbauer and Jeffrey J. Schott, Institute for International Economics, Washington (DC), under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 4 Demographic Trends in Canada, 1996-2006: Implications for the Public and Private Sectors, David K. Foot, Richard A. Loreto and Thomas W. McCormack, Madison Avenue Demographics Group, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 5 Capital Investment Challenges in Canada, Ronald P. M. Giammarino, University of British Columbia, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 6 Looking to the 21st Century Infrastructure Investments for Economic Growth and for the Welfare and Well-Being of Canadians, Christian DeBresson, Université du Québec à Montréal, and Stéphanie Barker, Université de Montréal, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 7 The Implications of Technological Change for Human Resource Policy, Julian R. Betts, University of California, San Diego, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.

- No. 8 Economics and the Environment: The Recent Canadian Experience and Prospects for the Future, Brian R. Copeland, University of British Columbia, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 9 Individual Responses to Changes in the Canadian Labour Market, Paul Beaudry and David A. Green, University of British Columbia, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 10 The Corporate Response Innovation in the Information Age, Randall Morck, University of Alberta, and Bernard Yeung, University of Michigan, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.
- No. 11 Institutions and Growth: Framework Policy as a Tool of Competitive Advantage for Canada, Ronald J. Daniels, University of Toronto, under contract with Industry Canada, 1998.

#### JOINT PUBLICATIONS

Capital Budgeting in the Public Sector, in collaboration with the John Deutsch Institute, Jack Mintz and Ross S. Preston eds., 1994.

**Infrastructure and Competitiveness**, in collaboration with the John Deutsch Institute, Jack Mintz and Ross S. Preston eds., 1994.

Getting the Green Light: Environmental Regulation and Investment in Canada, in collaboration with the C.D. Howe Institute, Jamie Benidickson, G. Bruce Doern and Nancy Olewiler, 1994.

To obtain copies of documents published under the Research Publications Program, please contact:

Publications Officer Micro-Economic Policy Analysis Industry Canada 5th Floor, West Tower 235 Queen Street Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 0H5

Tel.: (613) 952-5704 Fax: (613) 991-1261

E-mail: mepa.apme@ic.gc.ca